MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025

The Arkansas State Police Commission met on Thursday, July 10, 2025, at the Arkansas
State Police Headquarters, Little Rock, Arkansas.

Commission Chairman Allison called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m.

MEMBERS PRESENT:
Commissioner John Allison, Chairman
Commissioner Jim Hinkle, Vice Chairman
Commissioner Ken Reeves, Secretary
Commissioner Steve Edwards

MEMBERS ABSENT:
Commissioner Neff Basore
Commissioner Mike Akin
Commissioner Jeff Teague

STATE POLICE PERSONNEL PRESENT:

Colonel Mike Hagar Lt. Colonel Mike Kennedy
Lt. Colonel Jason Aaron Major Stacie Rhoads
Major Ron Casey Major Roby Rhoads
Susan Tedford Lieutenant Bobby Brown
Eric Wacaster Sherry Woods
Captain Brady Gore Captain Rick Neill
Major Jeft Drew Karen Perry
Lieutenant Ryan Jacks Sergeant Keri Permenter
Lieutenant Alex Krneta Sergeant Wade Schanzlin
Jesi Feld Lieutenant Jay McAllister
Sergeant Kyle Peek Sergeant Zach Owens
Ryan Roach Captain Philip Hydron
Captain Scott Joe Lieutenant Matt Toon
Lieutnenant Jamie Gravier Sergeant Greg Dycus
Shelly Cantrell Lieutenant Michael Bain
Teresa Hardy, PLC Sergeant Chuck Lewis
Captain Jeff Sheeler Lieutenant Joe Carter
Corporal Dustin Thompson Sergeant Matt Foster
TFC Heath Gurley Captain David Williams
Caitlin Teague SA David Harrell
Jonathan Nettles Joan Shipley
Cindy Murphy Donna Humphries
OTHERS PRESENT:
Angela Schanzlin Cate Hollingsworth, AG Office
Sarah DeBusk-Griffin, AG Office Grant Burress, AG Office
Darren O’Quinn, Attorney Darren Henley
Beth Henley Leslie Younts
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

Commission Chairman Allison led the pledge of allegiance.

NOTIFICATION OF MEDIA:

The media was notified of this meeting on June 30, 2025.

MINUTES:

Commission Chairman Allison stated you have the minutes of the prior meeting.
Commissioner Hinkle made a motion to approve the minutes of June 12, 2025, regular
monthly commission meeting. Commissioner Edwards seconded the motion. Commission
Chairman Allison stated we have a motion and second, any opposed, the motion carried.

Commission Chairman Allison stated we have Weapon Resolutions.

WEAPON RESOLUTIONS:



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 2

Captain Philip Hydron presented the following resolutions for consideration by the ASP
Commission.

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward efficiently and effectively served the
Arkansas State Police for a period of seventeen years, three months,
and twenty-one days;

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward retired from this department May 31,
2025;

WHEREAS: His departure creates a vacancy that will be most difficult to fill, which
is recognized by each and every member of the Arkansas State Police
Commission;

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward has made formal request that his

service weapon be retired with him and remain in his possession;

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED: The Arkansas State Police Commission, in its regular
meeting at Arkansas State Police Headquarters in Little Rock, Arkansas on Thursday, July
10, 2025, in accordance with Act 547 of 2003 awards him, his Glock Model 17, Serial
Number BMSA361, as a token of their esteem and appreciation for service devoted to the
Arkansas State Police.

Commissioner Edwards made a motion to approve the above weapon resolution presented to
the Commission. Commissioner Hinkle seconded the motion. Commission Chairman
Allison stated we have a motion and a second, any opposed, motion carried.

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward efficiently and effectively served the
Arkansas State Police for a period of seventeen years, three months,
and twenty-one days;

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward retired from this department May 31,
2025;

WHEREAS: His departure creates a vacancy that will be most difficult to fill, which
is recognized by each and every member of the Arkansas State Police
Commission;

WHEREAS: Corporal Michael R. Woodward has made formal request that his

shotgun be retired with him and remain in his possession;

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED: The Arkansas State Police Commission, in its regular
meeting at Arkansas State Police Headquarters in Little Rock, Arkansas on Thursday, July
10, 2025, in accordance with Act 547 of 2003 determines the fair market value of the
Remington shotgun, serial number D673550M, that Corporal Michael R. Woodward has
carried be affixed at $100.00, and that Corporal Michael R. Woodward be permitted to
purchase the shotgun for his personal use.

Commissioner Edwards made a motion to approve the above weapon resolution presented to
the Commission. Commissioner Hinkle seconded the motion. Commission Chairman
Allison stated we have a motion and a second, any opposed, motion carried.

PROMOTION CERTIFICATES:

Colonel Mike Hagar presented a promotion certificate to Sergeant Kyle Peek promoting him
to Sergeant in the Highway Patrol Division, Troop G.

Colonel Mike Hagar presented a promotion certificate to Sergeant Matthew Schanzlin
promoting him to Sergeant in the Highway Patrol Division, Troop F.



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 3

Colonel Mike Hagar presented a promotion certificate to Sergeant Keri Permenter promoting
her to Sergeant in the Highway Patrol Division, Troop A.

OFFICIAL COMMENDATIONS:

Colonel Hagar stated next, we have an Official Commendation for Special Agent David
Harrell, and the overview will be presented by Sergeant Ryan Jacks.

Sergeant Ryan Jacks stated good morning, Colonel Hagar, Chairman, Commissioners, it is
my great pleasure to recommend Special Agent David Harrell for the Arkansas State Police
Official Commendation Award. This recommendation is not based on a single case or event
but rather his consistent excellence, technical skills, and outstanding contributions across
multiple investigations over the past nine months. During this period, Special Agent Harrell
has provided critical investigative support across a wide range of major cases. He has worked
closely with the Pulaski County Prosecutor’s Office on several capital murder investigations
in Little Rock and Sherwood. In one such case, Special Agent Harrell used advanced
cellphone geo-location analysis to definitively place the suspect and the victim together at
the time of the murder, providing crucial evidence that strengthened the prosecution’s case.
In the area of white-collar crime, Special Agent Harrell collaborated with the Arkansas
Attorney General’s Office on five Medicaid fraud cases. His technical expertise was
instrumental in securing key evidence. In one case, his analysis showed that a suspect had
traveled out of state to Hawaii during the reported working hours, directly contradicting their
submitted billing records. In another investigation, Special Agent Harrell uncovered a
suspect falsely claimed to be present at a healthcare facility on 62 separate occasions, while
location data showed they were actually at a personal residence. These findings were
essential in proving fraud and advancing prosecutions. Special Agent Harrell also supported
Troop A Highway Patrol during the investigation of two aggravated assault “road rage”
incidents, both committed by the same suspect in the same week, this ultimately led to the
confession and arrest of the suspect. Special Agent Harrell also assisted a Troop E Trooper
with a felony fleeing case, proving the suspect’s location during the pursuit, whereabouts
when he fled on foot. Despite the diversity and volume of cases, he has consistently delivered
precise and timely investigative work. Recognizing the growing importance of digital
evidence in modern investigations, Special Agent Harrell took the initiative to become
certified in ZETX, a highly specialized platform used to map and analyze geo-location data
from mobile devices. He has since become a ZETX Subject Matter Expert, using this tool to
support complex investigations across multiple agencies and jurisdictions. This level of
proficiency is rare and reflects his deep commitment to professional development and service.
His work has not gone unnoticed. In a recent public statement following a Medicaid fraud
conviction, Arkansas Attorney General Tim Griffin specifically acknowledged and
commended Special Agent Harrell’s exceptional work and dedication in protecting
Arkansans. According to Pulaski County Chief Deputy Prosecutor Kelly Ward, Special
Agent Harrell’s ability to interpret and present cellphone location records has played a critical
role in building strong, evidence-based homicide prosecutions. This type of technical
analysis requires not only advanced training, but also the analytical judgment and
investigative experience to apply it effectively, skills Special Agent Harrell demonstrates
consistently. Even while carrying a full caseload in the busiest CID Company in the state,
Special Agent Harrell continues to go above and beyond to serve justice. His combination
of professionalism, initiative, and technical acumen make him an invaluable asset to the
Arkansas State Police and the citizens we serve. For these reasons, I strongly and respectfully
recommend Special Agent David Harrell for this commendation award.

Colonel Mike Hagar presented Special Agent David Harrell an Official Commendation
Award.

Commission Chairman Allison stated next is division reports, Karen Perry, Fiscal Section.

Karen Perry stated good morning, Colonel, and Commissioners, you have the June report,
we finished the Fiscal Year with $20,000.00 left in funding and that will be used to pay for
any invoices that we did not receive in June. We are going to get some budget modifications
this month for the pay plan; we are not really sure what that is going to look like, but they are
going to send it to us this month. Just for your information, gas for the month of June, we
averaged $2.62 per gallon.



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 4

Commission Chairman Allison stated Administrative Services, Major Roby Rhoads.

Major Roby Rhoads stated Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, Colonel Hagar good morning,
you have the report for last month, the 2025A Troop School, we have 112 applicants in the
process still remaining, we are doing psychologicals, polygraphs and backgrounds this round
and we should start the interviews on July 31. It is a good pool and is looking good so far.

Major Roby Rhoads stated our Wellness Section for last month assisted 38 individuals, had
nine follow up visits and assisted one debrief with six participants. We have Peer training
scheduled for next week, it is Train the Trainor, and I think we are sending four people to
that and then we are having our chaplain training in September and so far, we have 58
registered for that. We have also hired a licensed counselor, Teresa Hardy, so she just started
this week, we are excited to have her as part of the program.

Major Roby Rhoads stated for the ASP Health Plan the total paid claims in June were
$1,247,344.00, and the ending fund balance is $13,207,806.00.

Commission Chairman Allison stated that’s better, a little better. Major Roby Rhoads stated
yes sir.

Commission Chairman Allison stated Major Drew, Crimes Against Children.

Major Drew stated good morning, Colonel, Chair, Commissioners, the CACD Hotline
received 4,297 calls in the month of June, with 1,975 of those accepted for investigation.
Major Drew stated there were 18 child deaths reported, three of those were investigated, and
15 were assessed. Major Drew stated the CACD investigations unit accepted 469 cases for
investigation, closed 535 cases, with 153 of those cases being true findings, for a
substantiation rate of 29%. Major Drew stated within the next month, it will be the first time
since I have been here where we should have all of our Hotline Operator positions filled.
Major Drew stated I think it is good what our administration has done to get their pay to a
competitive level.

Commission Chairman Allison asked how many people do you have to investigate the 1,975?
Major Drew stated 73 investigators for the state.

Commissioner Reeves stated we always have about twice as many contacts than we have
investigations, what is an example of a contact that doesn’t warrant an investigation? Major
Drew stated sometimes it is people just calling, but a lot of times we get people calling in
duplicate allegations. Major Drew stated if we have already received it then it will not be
assigned again. Major Drew stated it is just different calls that do not qualify, some maybe
like I said are duplicates, or they don’t have enough information to accept a report because
they have to meet certain criteria before that call can be accepted. Commissioner Reeves
asked, is there a standard checklist when a call comes in that the person taking the call can
ask these questions? Major Drew stated yes sir.

Commission Chairman Allison stated Criminal Investigations, Major Stacie Rhoads.

Major Stacie Rhoads stated good morning, Colonel, Chairman, Commissioners for the month
of June, CID initiated 191 investigations, most of those are going to be the background
investigations that Major Roby Rhoads referenced. Major Stacie Rhoads stated right now we
are currently investigating 112 background investigations. Major Stacie Rhoads stated what
I will point out to you is our day job doesn’t stop when we have to conduct background
investigations. It is something that we are certainly more than happy to do, but it does take
a tremendous amount of work to investigate these individuals, to make sure they should wear
the uniform. So, we take great pride into conducting those investigations. Major Stacie
Rhoads stated for the month we conducted 49 primary investigations, seven were secondary,
and we had 51 agency assists. We conducted 24 death investigations, eight of those were
homicides, we conducted two in custody jail deaths, and we had one officer involved shooting
investigation.

Major Stacie Rhoads stated I want to take a minute; you just heard the overview from
Sergeant Jacks with regard to Special Agent David Harrell’s work and I love that his wife
gets to be here and see him actually receive some recognition. Major Stacie Rhoads stated
she is the woman at home with the kids when he responds to those callouts that take him to



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 5

Marianna, that take him to Greenbrier, away from his home, so I am glad that she gets to be
here to see him get recognized. But just yesterday, he was identified as a subject matter
expert in some of the stuff that Sergeant Ryan Jacks was talking about today and that doesn’t
come easy, this was self-initiated by Special Agent Harrell to take on all of those added
responsibilities that not only makes our division better, but our department, I just wanted to
give him a little extra brag.

Commission Chairman Allison stated Highway Patrol, Captain Philip Hydron.

Captain Philip Hydron stated Colonel Hagar, Mr. Chairman, Commissioners the month of
June proved to be yet another busy month for the members of the Highway Patrol Division,
we had a total 2,219 criminal arrests, with 1,428 persons arrested; we had 287 DWI arrests
with five DUI arrests. Our hazardous arrests were 6,409, physical arrests were 499, total
citations issued during the month were 16,213 and motorists assisted we had 2,998. Our
pursuits were at 37 during the month of June, a slight increase from the previous month.
Crash investigations we had 1,276, with 36 fatals. We recovered 18 stolen vehicles with a
net worth of $272,500.00, we also recovered other stolen property with a net worth of
$14,525.00 and we had 907,031 total miles driven. Captain Philip Hydron stated we had six
aircraft missions, DL/CDL had a busy month they gave 20,935 tests, and overall, we had
calls for service of 27,329. Interstate Criminal Patrol had another significant month, a great
month, they had $9,465.00 in U. S. Currency seized, they also seized 728 pounds of
marijuana, 180 pounds of methamphetamine, 177 pounds of that was a single seizure, that
particular seizure is probably the largest in Arkansas and may even be one of the largest in
the nation. Very good job on their part. Captain Hydron stated they also seized 20.15 pounds
of cocaine, 4.2 pounds of heroin, 7 pounds of THC products and approximately 500 pills to
include Amoxicillin, flu and cold medications, pain relievers and 156 pints of Promethazine.
They had a great month.

Commission Chairman Allison asked how many DUIs did you say we had? Captain Hydron
stated we had five DUIs. Commission Chairman Allison asked about the number of DWIs?
Captain Hydron stated we had 287. Commission Chairman Allison asked 287, is that an
abnormal number, is that high or low? Captain Hydron stated no sir, that is about average
per month, I think that sometimes you will see during the summer months those DWIs will
pick up just a little bit.

Commission Chairman Allison stated Regulatory and Building Operations, Lieutenant Jay
McAllister.

Lieutenant Jay McAllister stated Colonel Hagar, Chairman, Commissioners, during the
month of June, the Identification Bureau and AFIS Section processed 24,471 civil
background checks and 8,988 criminal fingerprint submissions. The Used Motor Vehicle
Dealer Section processed 295 dealer applications. The PI Security Section processed 515
license applications. The Fire Investigators conducted 11 origin and cause investigations,
and the Bomb Squad handled one explosive call assisting the ATF.

Colonel Hagar asked Commission Chairman Allison if he could speak to Major Stacie
Rhoads before discussing new business. Major Stacie Rhoads stated so one of the things in
June during the Never Forgotten Event that the AG’s Office presents every year, our Human
Trafficking Unit was recognized, several members of the unit were recognized for their work
in recovering children. Major Stacie Rhoads stated as you are aware last December, you
know we started our Human Trafficking Unit back in 2023 and when we created that unit,
one of the things that we found is just the number of foster kids and missing runaways that
we were just missing the mark on people looking for them, especially runaways. Major Stacie
Rhoads stated some of the research indicated that foster kids were more likely to become
victims of child sex trafficking. So, we just decided we have to do something about that, and
we added another agent to that unit and all he does is dedicate his time to looking for missing
kids. So, over that time they have rescued probably close to 100 kids, probably, I don’t have
the exact numbers in front of me. But here today are Special Agent Dustin Thompson,
Sergeant Matt Foster and Special Agent Heath Gurley, those are the three people that make
up our Human Trafficking Unit. Major Stacie Rhoads stated I know that you all have seen
the press releases we have done with the number of victims that we have recovered and
offered them victim services. But the kid aspect is what we are most proud of and that we
are mostly working because, a lot of times, some of the victims that we are encountering at



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 6

these hotels, it is hard to get them out of that world that they have already been immersed
into. So, if we can get them before they get immersed in that world and that is those foster
kids. They are three times more likely that a foster kid is going to find themselves as a sex
trafficking victim. Their work was recognized by Colleen Nick and the Morgan Nick
Foundation, and I wanted to make sure that you all recognize their work as well. You know
we all want to leave an impact and I think if you were to ask them, they would tell you there
is nothing more satisfying than and Special Agent Thompson can tell you a story of a young
girl that he has chased many, many times who found herself in Arizona and had nobody to
call and she called him because she needed help. He spent hours and days facilitating her
return back to Arkansas, he actually met her at the airport, and when she got here, she hugged
him and she said nobody has ever made me feel like I mattered before, until today. Major
Stacie Rhoads stated you know we all want to change the world but hopefully we are
changing the world for her, and I just wanted you all to hear a little bit of back story on that
and our recognition at the Never Forgotten Event.

Commission Chairman Allison asked is there any new business? Colonel Hagar stated Mr.
Chairman I apologize that was not on the agenda. Commission Chairman Allison stated no,
that was great, [ have been reading about what work they have done, that is very impressive.
Colonel Hagar stated we live in a world sometimes where you measure success by numbers,
arrests, convictions, and things like that, but what these guys are doing there is no, sometimes
numbers go along with it for arrests and conviction, however they are putting bad guys in jail
left and right, but the impact they are having on these kids and families is just commendable,
so very proud of them. Colonel Hagar stated and with that [ would recommend we move into
Executive Session to consider personnel matters. Commission Chairman Allison asked about
the reinstatement request and Colonel Hagar stated I think we will discuss that in Executive
Session.

EXECUTIVE SESSION:

Commissioner Reeves stated Mr. Chairman I would move that we retire into Executive
Session to consider personnel matters. Commissioner Hinkle seconded, and the motion
passed. Commission Chairman Allison asked anyone opposed and stated we will return. The
Commission went into the Executive Session at 10:32 am. At 11:26 a.m., Commission
Chairman Allison stated we are back in session, we discussed personnel matters, and now I
will turn it over to you Colonel. Colonel Hagar stated thank you Mr. Chairman, the first item
to be considered is a request for reinstatement from former trooper, Jason Long and the
recommendation is to reinstate him. Commissioner Reeves made a motion to reinstate Jason
Long. Commissioner Hinkle seconded the motion. Commission Chairman Allison stated
any discussion, all in favor say aye, any opposed, the motion carried.

Colonel Hagar stated next is the Sergeant position in the Highway Patrol Division, Troop A,
the recommendation to the Commission will be Corporal Jason Dooley. Commissioner
Edwards made a motion that Corporal Jason Dooley be promoted to Sergeant in the Highway
Patrol Division, Troop A. Commissioner Hinkle seconded the motion. Commission
Chairman Allison stated we have a motion, and a second, any discussion, all in favor say aye,
the motion carries.

Colonel Hagar stated next is the Sergeant position in Highway Patrol Division, Troop F and
my recommendation to the Commission will be Corporal John Paker. Commissioner Hinkle
made a motion that Corporal John Parker be promoted to Sergeant in the Highway Patrol
Division, Troop F. Commissioner Reeves seconded the motion. Commission Chairman
Allison stated we have a motion and a second, any discussion, all in favor say aye, all those
opposed, so ordered.

Colonel Hagar stated the last Sergeant position is in the Highway Patrol Division, Troop H,
the recommendation to the Commission will be Corporal Joshua Porter. Commissioner
Reeves made a motion that Corporal Joshua Porter be promoted to Sergeant in the Highway
Patrol Division, Troop H. Commissioner Hinkle seconded the motion. Commission
Chairman Allison stated we have a motion and a second, any discussion, all in favor say aye,
all those opposed, and the motion carries.



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING
July 10, 2025 — Page 7

NEXT MEETING:

Commission Chairman Allison stated the next commission meeting will be held on Thursday,
August 14, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. in Little Rock, Arkansas.

Commission Chairman Allison asked if there were any other discussion or items to bring
before the commission today. With no further business, Commission Chairman Allison
adjourned the meeting at 11:31 a.m.

Commission Chairman

Commission Secretary



